FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/6/2020 2:15 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98161-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 79646-1-I)

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

JERRY D. WIATT, JR., Appellant

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kurt D. Bennett, WSBA #27965 Attorney for Appellant

KURT BENNETT ATTORNEYS, PLLC 19803 First Avenue South, Suite 200 Normandy Park, WA 98148 Tel: 206-447-1661

Fax: 206-508-3982

I. INTRODUCTION

In 2011, Jerry D. Wiatt, Jr. pled guilty to nine gross misdemeanors pursuant to a plea agreement with the State. As part of that plea agreement, Mr. Wiatt agreed to entry of nine permanent civil anti-harassment orders issued under RCW 10.14, et. seq. Mr. Wiatt pled guilty and was sentenced on the same day. During the sentencing hearing, the Trial Court imposed the nine civil orders. Mr. Wiatt subsequently completed all conditions of his Judgment and Sentence.

In 2017, Mr. Wiatt moved in each respective civil cause number to vacate the nine civil orders as being issued outside of the statutory limitations of RCW 10.14, et. seq. The State intervened, moved the court to consolidate the nine civil cause numbers with the criminal cause and for the Trial Court to find that Mr. Wiatt breached the plea agreement by initiating the motions to vacate under the civil causes. The Trial Court agreed with the State and found that Mr. Wiatt breached the plea agreement. The Court ordered the remedy of specific performance of preventing Mr. Wiatt from proceeding forward with his Motions to Vacate the nine civil anti-harassment orders.

Mr. Wiatt appealed this finding by the Trial Court, arguing that the plea agreement entered in his matter was fully executed by the parties and that the enforcement of the agreement was beyond the jurisdiction of the court. Despite these arguments, the Court of Appeals rested its decision upon the language of the plea agreement itself and the similar legal underpinnings between plea agreements and contract law. Specifically, the Court of Appeals found the agreement of the parties was critical and the agreement of the parties was obtained following lengthy negotiation after which both parties were found to have benefitted. As a result, the Court of Appeals found that the Trial Court did not err by ordering specific performance of the agreement.

Given the importance and widespread use of plea agreements in our legal system, clear delineation and understanding of the limits of such an agreement are of paramount importance, and the court's error raising an issue of substantial public and professional interest, review by this Honorable Court is warranted.

II. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

The Petitioner in this matter is Defendant, Mr. Jerry Wiatt. The respondent in this matter is the State of Washington. No parties have changed since this matter was heard by the Court of Appeals.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On October 21, 2019, the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued a decision affirming the trial court's order for specific performance of the plea agreement signed on January 31, 2011. Following this, on November 8, 2019, undersigned counsel filed a Motion to Publish pursuant to RAP 12.3. On January 8, 2020, the Court of Appeals, Division I, issues its Order Granting Motion to Publish.

IV. <u>ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR</u>

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1: The Court of Appeals erred in finding that Mr. Wiatt breached a valid plea agreement when he attempted to vacate nine lifetime anti-harassment orders.

V. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

ISSUE 1: Whether the plea agreement was fully executed at the time Mr. Wiatt moved to vacate the anti-harassment orders?

ISSUE 2: Whether the trial court had the authority to order specific performance of a negotiated plea agreement when jurisdiction of the court had already expired?

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 31, 2011, Mr. Wiatt pled guilty to nine gross misdemeanors charges, to include seven counts of assault in the fourth degree (RCW 9A.36.041) and two counts of furnishing liquor to a minor (RCW 66.44.270(1)) for incidents occurring from dates ranging from 1999 to 2001. The trial court accepted his guilty pleas and subsequently sentenced him the same day. The sentence included a twenty-four-month suspended sentence with a condition that Mr. Wiatt "comply with the requirements of permanent civil antiharassment orders imposed by the Court upon the defendant on January 31, 2011." (Judgment and Sentence Following Appeal (Non-Felony), page 3). No separate written plea agreement was filed. The only reference to a plea agreement was in paragraph 6 (b) of the Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty (Non-Felony); where "[t]he prosecuting authority will make the following recommendation to the judge: ... [p]ursuant to the plea agreement of the parties, the defendant would agree to the entry by this court at the time of sentencing of a permanent civil anti-harassment order for each of the victims named in the nine counts against the defendant." (Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty (Non-Felony), page 2).

The trial court signed the nine civil orders at the sentencing hearing and the prosecutor filed the civil orders with the clerk's office after the hearing concluded. Additionally, it is important to note, there were no petitions filed pursuant to RCW 10.14, et. seq. and the orders were not signed by any of the petitioners; prosecuting attorney Christen Peters signed the orders on behalf of each petitioner. None of the petitioners appeared at the plea and sentencing hearing.

In 2017, Mr. Wiatt moved the court, under each of the civil cause numbers, to vacate the orders as not having been issued in compliance with the statutory requirements of RCW 10.14, et. seq. The petitioners were properly served. The State intervened to consolidate the civil motions with the criminal cause, even though it is not a party to the civil orders. The State argued that Mr. Wiatt was in breach of the plea agreement by having initiated the motion to vacate the civil orders. The trial court agreed with the State and found Mr. Wiatt in breach of the plea agreement and ordered specific performance forbidding Mr. Wiatt from challenging the validity of the civil orders or to move for modification of the civil orders in the future; even though the Court's jurisdiction over the criminal gross misdemeanor offenses expired many years prior.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Wiatt's Plea Agreement was fully executed at the time he moved to vacate the Anti-Harassment Orders in this matter and as such did not breach his agreement.

By their nature, plea agreements are bilateral contracts between the parties to a case. There must be a promissory exchange and a promise of certain benefits, "including exact penal promises, in return for a defendant's promise to enter a guilty or no contest plea." State v. Bembenek, 724 N.W. 2d 685, 689 (Wis.Ct.App. 2006), quoting State v. Bowers, 696 N.W. 2d 255, 264 (2003). In that same vein, a plea agreement is a contract made within the limits of the controlling statutes, meaning the State's discretion and courts authority are not unfettered. See State v. Moen, 150 Wn.2d 221, 227 (2003); See also In Re. Thompson, 141 Wn.2d 712, 723 (2000). In short, "The government gets what it bargains for but nothing more." United States v. Pruitt, 32 F.3d 431, 433 (9th Cir. 1994). Given that "the court's sentencing authority is limited to that expressly provided for by statute," the maximum the government may receive as a result of a plea agreement is subject to the authority granted by statute, nothing more. See State v. Phelps, 113 Wn.App. 347, 356 (2002).

Here, to receive the benefit of opportinuity to plead guilty to reduced charges, Mr. Wiatt agreed and that he would agree to the

State recommending at sentencing that permanent Civil Anti-Harassment Orders be entered. That is exactly what occurred: Mr. Wiatt pled guilty and the State made their recommendation to the court at sentencing. At that moment, the agreement between the State and the Defendant was executed as the bargained for exchange occurred. The contract was complete. The Court following the State's recommendation and issuing the Permanent Anti-Harassment Orders is immaterial as to the completeness of the plea agreement.

As such, the parties' plea agreement had been fully executed at the time Mr. Wiatt moved to vacate the nine anti-harassment orders. Given the language of the agreement no further obligations existed, Mr. Wiatt was not in breach requiring an order of specific performance – he had pled guilty and had agreed to the State's recommendation at sentencing.

Here, the plea agreement reached between the parties, which governs the jurisdiction of the court in this matter, was fully executed at the time the prosecution moved for specific performance. As a result, the court had no jurisdiction to find the defendant in breech.

The completion of all terms, conditions, and bargained for exchanges resulted in plea agreement to be fully executed and completed.

Here, the plea agreement that was reached between the parties and governing Mr. Wiatt's conduct in this matter was fully executed at the time that the prosecution and as such the court no longer retained jurisdiction to find Mr. Wiatt had beached the agreement. Specifically, the plea agreement was summarized in the Statement of the Defendant on Plea of Guilty submitted to the court:

...365 days on each count with 60 day suspended for a period of two years, with time on all counts running concurrently: that the defendant receive credit for 305 days served as to all counts and that he be released from the custody of the Department of Corrections at the time of sentencing; that supervision of probation by the department of corrects ion be in King County where the defendant will be residing; that the conditions of probation be as follows: no criminal law violations, defendant engage in treatment as recommended in December 4, 2010 evaluation by Michael Comte, and that the defendant not maintain a principal residence, or have a principal place of employment or principal place of schooling in Thurston County. Pursuant to the plea agreement of the parties, the defendant would agree to the entry by this court at the time of sentencing of a permanent civil anti-harassment order for each of the victims named in the nine counts against the defendant. The State recommends legal financial obligations in the amount of \$500 for the victim penalty assessment and \$200 for court costs.

CP 6, 41.

At the change of plea hearing, Mr. Wiatt acknowledged that he fully understood what he stated in his Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty. CP 55. Following this, the Court accepted the defendant's guilty pleas to all nine counts and found that such pleas were made freely, voluntarily, and intelligently. CP 64. At sentencing, the State recommended the court entered the referenced anti-harassment orders. CP 68-69. At the conclusion of sentencing, the parties had completed the terms of their contract.

Mr. Wiatt subsequently served his sentence in this matter. No additional affirmative requirements remained outstanding in Mr. Wiatt's matter following his completion of probation. As such, in 2017 when Mr. Wiatt moved to vacate these orders, he was not in violation of the plea agreement as the terms of the bargain had been fulfilled by both parties and nothing remained regarding the terms of the agreement. Offer, acceptance, and ultimately, performance all occurred as negotiated. Given the completion of the terms of the agreement by both parties, specific performance is not within the court's jurisdiction to order as performance of the actions already occurred.

B. The Court did not have the authority to order specific performance of Mr. Wiatt's plea agreement as the plea agreement was unenforceable beyond the jurisdiction of the trial court.

A plea agreement between the parties represents a question of both constitutional precepts and the overlay of a contract between the parties of the agreement. A plea agreement once embodied in the judgment of the court implicates constitutional provisions and protections. *See Mabry v. Johnson*, 467 U.S. 504, 507 (1984). Ultimately, a plea agreement is a contract with constitutional implications. *State v. Townsend*, No. 34984-5 (Div. III, 02/06/2018), *citing In re: Pers. Restraint of Lord*, 152 Wn.2d 182, 188-189 (2004). A plea bargain is not a commercial exchange; it is an instrument for the enforcement of the criminal law. *See United States v. Baron*, 172 F.3d 1153, 1158 (9th Cir. 1999).

The court has previously held that specific performance is a remedy for both parties to a plea agreement. *State v. Thomas* 79 Wn.app.32, 37 (1995). "Specific performance entitles a defendant to "the benefit of his original bargain." *State v. Barber*, 248 P.3d 494, 496 (2011)(internal quotations omitted). A plea agreement functions as a contract in which the defendant exchanges his guilty plea for some bargained-for concession from the State: dropping charges, a

sentencing recommendation, etc. Specific performance ensures that the defendant receives the promise he bargained for. *Id. citing State v. Sledge*, 133 Wash.2d 828, 838-40 (1997); *State v. Hunsicker*, 129 Wash.2d 544, 559 (1996).

One context that specific performance may arise is upon the mutual mistake of the parties or reliance upon incorrect or misinformation. This can occur when the parties stipulate upon a particular plea agreement or sentence that is contrary to law. For example, "The parties may agree...that an offense carries a mandatory minimum term of 10 years when in reality, the mandatory minimum term is 20 years. If the defendant elects specific performance in this context, giving him the benefit of the plea bargain would require imposing the bargained for sentence." See State v. Barber, 248 P.3d 494, 497 (2011). Taken to its conclusion, the courts have recognized that specific performance in the context of a mutual mistake may require enforcement of sentence that is contrary to law. Id. This conclusion is obviously flawed and appropriately the Court is limited in its powers to only those powers granted explicitly by statute, and the parties to a plea agreement cannot empower a court, through that agreement, to exceed those powers. State v. Eilts, 94 Wn.2d 489, 495 (1980), superseded by statute RCW 9.95.210. "The

actual sentence imposed pursuant to a plea bargain must be statutorily authorized; a defendant cannot agree to be punished more than the Legislature has allowed for." *State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 869 (2001). "There simply is no credible legal argument that can be made for the proposition that a court...may exceed its statutory sentencing authority in order to enforce the terms of a plea agreement." *State v. Barber*, 248 P.3d 494, 498 (2011).

A court does not have jurisdiction over criminal matters ad infinitum, rather, a court may only punish an offenders consistent with those authorized by statute, and failure to remedy such a situation runs afoul with constitutional due process rights. In Re Pers. Restraint of Moore, 116 Wn.2d 30, 33 (1991). In setting maximum penalties for respective classifications of offenses, the Legislature has set clear floors and ceilings related to the nature of the offense. See RCW 9A.20.021 & RCW 9.94A.506. These sections specifically authorize the respective Court to impose sentence consistent with the authority provided by statute. RCW 9A.20.021 sets forth the Maximum Sentences for crimes committed July 1, 1984 or later, and states in relevant part, "(2) Gross Misdemeanor. Every person convicted of a gross misdemeanor defined in Title 9A RCW shall be punished by imprisonment in the county jail for a maximum term fixed

by the court of up to three hundred sixty-four days, or by a fine in an amount fixed by the court of not more than five thousand dollars, or by both such imprisonment and fine." *RCW.* 9A.20.021(2).

Furthermore, the limitations of sentences and criminal jurisdiction are further defined by the limitations placed upon the Standard sentencing ranges. *See RCW 9.94A.506.* Specifically, RCW 9.94A.506 states, The standard sentence range of total and partial confinement under this chapter, except as provided in RCW 9.94A.517, are subject to the following limitations: (1) if the maximum term in the range is one year or less, the minimum term in the range shall be no less than one-third of the maximum term in the range...(3) The maximum term of confinement in the range may not exceed the statutory maximum for the crime provided in RCW 9A.20.021." *Id.*

Additionally, in imposing a sentence the court may be granted additional jurisdiction over the matter in the form of probation or supervision of the offender in the community. See RCW 9.95.210. Importantly, "the superior court may suspend the imposition or the execution of the sentence and may direct that the suspension may continue upon such conditions and for such time as it shall designate, not exceeding the maximum term of the sentence or two years, whichever is longer." RCW 9.95.210(1).

Moving now to the how this applies specifically to Mr. Wiatt and the sentence he received in this matter, it can be noted that RCW 9.94A.517 provides that the punishment of gross misdemeanors is 364 days of confinement, and subject to RCW 9.95.210(1) for a probationary period of which is the maximum sentence or two years; in this case would be two years.

Ordering specific performance would be outside the court's jurisdiction in this case as the motion for breech of the agreement was filed in 2017, over 4 years after the jurisdiction in this matter expired. Under the terms of the RCW applying to sentences for gross misdemeanors and the corresponding probationary period(s), the court maintains some form of jurisdiction for a period of at most two years. However, the prosecution argues that the agreement of the parties to the entry of the plea agreement in this matter gave the court "lifetime" jurisdiction to revoke his plea agreement in relation to the anti-harassment orders; such a conclusion cannot be logical given the court's previous recognition that "a defendant cannot agree to be punished more than the Legislature has allowed for." State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 869 (2001). Given that the court lacks the jurisdiction in this matter, specific performance is not an available or appropriate remedy. Such enforcement would run afoul with the

court's previous precedents, the Revised Code of Washington, and Mr. Wiatt's due process rights as guaranteed by the United States and Washington State constitutions.

VIII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Wiatt respectfully requests that the Court REVERSE the ruling of the Court of Appeals and find that the Plea Agreement was fully executed and the Court no longer retained jurisdiction, or alternatively, that the Plea Agreement was unenforceable as the provisions related to a lifetime protection order were improper rendering the plea agreement invalid with respect to the protection orders.