FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/5/2020 3:46 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98161-2 COA No. 79645-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JERRY D. WIATT JR.,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Mary Sue Wilson, Judge The Honorable Lisa Sutton, Judge Cause No. 01-1-01136-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. Whether Wiatt has demonstrated a sufficient basis pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) for this case to accept review where the decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with previous decisions of this Court and does not affect the understood principal that plea agreements are contractual in nature.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On January 31, 2011, Jerry D. Wiatt, Jr., appeared for a change of plea and sentencing in Thurston County cause number 01-1-01136-1. Wiatt had been serving a prison sentence for convictions for two counts of rape in the second degree, two counts of rape in the third degree, one count of attempted rape in the third degree, six counts of furnishing liquor to a minor, one count of voyeurism, and one count of communication with a minor for immoral purposes. All of the convictions were vacated by a decision of this Court and the charges had been remanded to Thurston County for a retrial. CP 145-146. The State had filed a Petition in the Washington Supreme Court seeking review of this Court's decision. CP 146.

Wiatt entered into an agreed resolution, in which the State committed to reduce the charges to seven counts of assault in the

fourth degree and two counts of furnishing liquor to a minor. CP 41, 146. The plea agreement was summarized in the Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty submitted by the defendant to the court that day:

. . . 365 days on each count with 60 day suspended for a period of two years, with time on all counts running concurrently; that the defendant receive credit for 305 days served as to all counts and that he be released from the custody of the Department of Corrections at the time of sentencing: that supervision of probation by the Department of Corrections be in King County where the defendant will be residing: that the conditions of probation be as follows: no criminal law violations, defendant engage in treatment as recommended in the December 4, 2010 evaluation by Michael Comte, and that the defendant not maintain a principal residence, or have a principal place of employment or principal place of schooling in Thurston County. Pursuant to the plea agreement of the parties, the defendant would agree to the entry by this court at the time of sentencing of a permanent civil anti-harassment order for each of the victims named in the nine counts against the defendant. The State recommends legal financial obligations in the amount of \$500 for the victim penalty assessment and \$200 for court costs.

CP 6, 41.

At the change of plea hearing, the defendant acknowledged he fully understood what was stated in the statement of defendant on plea of guilty. CP 55. The State noted the following in regard to its recommendations following the court's acceptance of the defendant's guilty pleas:

. . . Your Honor, I'm asking the court to impose a permanent antiharassment order for each victim, and for the purposes of the record I'm going to read their names into the -- on the record. Magen Blevins, Jennifer Bowles, Alvina Cruz, Erin Gundlach, Zoe Hawkins, Krystal Hoskins, Heather Kamilkov, Raminta Rankis, and Sherri Waltermeyer.

CP 57. The court accepted the defendant's guilty pleas to all nine counts, finding that the defendant had made those pleas freely, voluntarily, intelligently, and competently, and that he understood the consequences of his guilty pleas. CP 64.

The prosecutor then provided to the court the following information concerning the victims of the defendant's crimes:

. . . The only additional information at this point that I would like to add to the Court is that information regarding the contact with the victims. The victims are all aware, all the victims have been sent letters by certified mail. Ms. Carroll has been the victim advocate, had contact with all the victims in this case. Some of them have had more contact, more than majority of them have had more contact than others with Ms. Carroll, they have all chosen not to be present here today. They still are all requesting the permanent lifetime no contact or, excuse me, antiharassment orders that are before the court. They did not want to see the defendant. They're all young woman (sic) who - incidents as the Court can see from the dates in the information were affected by crimes 11 and 12 years ago. Many of them have gotten married, some of them have children, some of them live in Thurston County, many of them still have contacts like relatives, parents that live in Thurston County even if they live elsewhere. But the one unifying comment from all the victims is they never want to see the defendant ever again. . .

I can also indicate to the Court that as we've been sitting here and as the Court's been proceeding on this very hearing, Ms. Carroll has been in contact and has actually received some e-mail contact back from the victims that are very anxious to hear what's going to be happening so they are very much present, very much concerned about what the Court's proceeding on today. I don't want the fact that their presence is not actual in court today for the Court to think that there is any less import to the victim's feelings regarding this case.

CP 65-67.

The prosecutor went on to discuss the entry of the proposed anti-harassment orders within the context of the criminal change of plea and sentencing hearing that was taking place.

... In this case, Your Honor, because of the unique circumstances, the State in effect is acting as the petitioner for this hearing on behalf of the victims, and so I believe that it would be appropriate for the State to sign but I have not done so until the Court approves. <u>I believe that's Mr. Zuckerman and defense counsel's opinion as well</u> and I'll hand those forward to the Court if the Court wants to review those as well.

CP 67-68 (emphasis added). After the court reviewed the proposed anti-harassment protection orders, the court asked for a response from defense counsel. That response was as follows:

Yes, Your Honor. Thank you, Your Honor, I do want to confirm that all of these conditions are fully agreed upon by the defense. As I think Your Honor knows, this was the result of considerable negotiations between the defense and the prosecutor's office and I know that the prosecutor also took the time to correspond with all the victims in the case and make sure that the settlement was acceptable to them as well. So we agree to all the terms recommended...

CP 68-69 (emphasis added). The defendant was asked if he had any comment to make. He declined, saying that he was deferring to his attorney. CP 69.

The court then noted that several published Washington appellate opinions had been presented in support of the proposal for entry of the anti-harassment orders, and that the court had reviewed those. Those cases were State v. Alphonse, 147 Wn. App. 891, 197 P.3d 1211 (2008) and State v. Schimelpfenia, 128 Wn. App. 224, 115 P.3d 338 (2005). The judge stated that she had studied those cases and noted that the cases set forth six nonexclusive factors that the court should consider when determining whether to impose a lifetime order such as was being requested. The court indicated the belief that the most important consideration was whether there was no less restrictive means available to accomplish the purpose of the order, and that the orders must be narrowly tailored to serve the interests involved.

CP 70-71. The court stated that the court was accepting the joint recommendation of the parties as proposed. CP 72. The court then specifically found that it was appropriate under both the statute and the cases referred to above that there be lifetime anti-harassment orders imposed. CP 72. The State, in return, confirmed that a withdrawal of the State's Petition for Review would be submitted to the Washington Supreme Court. CP 76.

Along with the filing of each of the nine anti-harassment protection orders approved by the court on January 31, 2011, the court also entered an Order Waiving Fees. In each such order, the court summarized what had taken place regarding these anti-harassment orders in the following manner:

In the above-named causes, the State of Washington, through Christen Anton Peters and James C. Powers, Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys for Thurston County, sought Permanent Anti-Harassment Orders for the protection of victims of offenses regrading which findings of guilt were entered against Jerry Dale Wiatt, Jr., respondent herein, and defendant in Thurston County Superior Court Cause 01-1-01136-1. This was done pursuant to a plea agreement reached with Jerry Dale Wiatt, Jr., in that criminal cause. Consequently, the respondent/defendant, Jerry Dale Wiatt, Jr., stipulated to the entry of those Permanent Anti-Harassment Orders in the above causes on January 31, 2011, at a hearing at which a Judgment and Sentence was also entered against defendant Wiatt in the criminal cause, Cause No. 01-1-01136-1. Because of the circumstances in which Permanent Anti-Harassment Orders were entered in the aboveidentified cases, the Court hereby finds it appropriate that all court and service fees be waived with regard to the entry and service of these Anti-Harassment Orders.

CP 116. The Honorable Judge Lisa Sutton also sentenced Wiatt as requested in the plea agreement. CP 40-44, 79-81.

On April 7, 2017, Wiatt filed in each of the nine civil causes a motion to vacate the permanent anti-harassment order that had been entered by the court on January 31, 2011, arguing that the court had committed legal error in issuing each of those orders. CP 147. The State intervened and argued that the motions to vacate breached the terms of the plea agreement that had been reached in 2011. CP 118. The trial court agreed that Wiatt had breached the terms of the plea agreement by attacking the validity of the permanent civil protection orders and found that the remedy of specific performance precluded Wiatt from proceeding in his motions to vacate. CP 144-150. Wiatt appealed that finding.

Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed holding that the trial court had the authority to enforce the plea agreement. Opinion,

No. 79646-1-II at 5.1 Wiatt now seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. Wiatt offers no basis pursuant to RAP 13.4 for this Court to accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with prior precedent from this Court.

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only if the petitioner demonstrates that review is appropriate under the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Without making reference to the rule, Wiatt argues that "clear delineation and understanding of the limits of such an agreement are of paramount importance" and raise an issue of substantial public and professional interest. <u>Petition</u> at 2. The State interprets this argument as a request for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

While the State agrees that the nature and enforceability of plea agreements is of substantial public importance, it is already understood that "a plea agreement is a contract between the State and the defendant." State v. McDonald, 183 Wn.2d 1, 8, 346 P.3d 748 (2015). As the Court of Appeals noted, "the language of the plea agreement is clear." Opinion at 5. Wiatt understood the

¹ The unpublished opinion is attached to the Petition for Review. It has been ordered published, but for purposes of this brief it will be referred to as "Opinion."

agreement and there should be no need for clarification in regard to its enforceability.

As is generally the case with contracts, whether the terms of the contract are to be considered separable or indivisible depends upon the intent of the parties. In determining the intent of the parties in the context of a plea agreement, a court must consider only objective manifestations of that intent, not claims of subjective intent. State v. Turley, 149 Wn.2d 395, 400, 60 P.3d 338 (2003). The terms of the contract in this case were likewise indivisible. It as an "unreasonable windfall" when a defendant negotiates a plea agreement with the State that provides him with important benefits, and then tries to repudiate that agreement to his further benefit. In re Personal Restraint of Swagerty, 186 Wn.2d 801, 812, 383 P.3d 454 (2016). The decisions of the trial court and the Court of Appeals applied this Court's previous opinions to prevent Wiatt from receiving an "unreasonable windfall."

This Court has long accepted that matters negotiated in a plea agreement can encompass more than just a criminal sentence. In <u>State v. Lee</u>, 132 Wn.2d 498, 506, 939 P.2d 1223 (1997), this Court acknowledged that "agreements to forgo seeking an exceptional sentence, to decline prosecuting all offenses, to pay

restitution on uncharged crimes, and to waive the right to appeal

are all permissible components of a valid plea agreement.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the civil

antiharassment orders were entered pursuant to the trial court's

authority under RCW 10.14.080(4), were specifically negotiated for

and agreed upon by Wiatt to the benefit of both parties, and

therefore, the trial court did not err by ordering specific

performance. While the enforceability of plea agreements is of

substantial public import, nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision

in this case confuses the issue. There is no reason for this Court to

accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

D. CONCLUSION.

The decision of the Court of Appeals correctly found that

Wiatt had breached the plea agreement that he entered and that

the State was entitled to specific performance. Wiatt has not

demonstrated a basis for which this Court should accept review.